USES OF THE SUBJUNCTIVE

The indicative mood that we have been studying so far is used to express events that are factual and definite.  The subjunctive mood, on the other hand, is used to refer to events or conditions that the speaker views as uncertain, unreal, subjective, or hypothetical.  

The subjunctive mood is used to express things the speaker wants to happen, things the speaker tries to get others to do, and events that the speaker reacts emotionally to. Other uses of the subjunctive include to express emotion, to express probability or uncertainty, with some time expressions to indicate future event, and with certain conjunctions.

English also uses the subjunctive but not as much as Spanish:  I wish I were rich or I suggest that you study more.  The main clause, I suggest, is the expression that requires the subjunctive:  that you study more.  

In Spanish, the subjunctive is most often used in two-clause sentences, connected by “que”, with a different subject in each clause.  If there is no change of subject, an infinitive follows the first verb:


Espero 

que
 

ellos tengan dinero.




(MAIN CLAUSE)



(DEPENDENT OR SUBORDINATE CLAUSE)

(I hope they have money.)


Espero tener dinero.



(I hope I have money).


In brief, Spanish require the use of subjunctive after the following expressions:
1. Volition


2. Emotion

3. Doubt, Disbelief, Denial 


4. Unreality   

5. Impersonal expression

1.
VOLITION:  (Voluntad)


Volition refers to demands, wishes, advice, persuasion, and other impositions of will.  All impositions of will, as well as indirect or implied commands, require the subjunctive in subordinate clauses. 

The subject in the main clause must be different from the subject in the subordinate clause.  Note the structure of the sentence in which the subjunctive is used in Spanish:


Main Clause




Dependent or Subordinate Clause

(subject A and a verb in indicative)
(que)

(subject B and verb in subjunctive)


Quiero



que

(tú) vengas a mi fiesta


I want



that

you come to my party

Some verbs of volition are:

querer 

desear



prohibir

mandar

sugerir



necesitar

recomendar
aconsejar (to advise)

pedir

insistir (en)
decir

Ejemplos:

Ella quiere que nosotros vayamos a su fiesta.

(She wants us to go to her party.)        

Deseamos que trabajes



(We want you to work.)

No quiero que lo hagas.



(I don’t want you to do it.)

Les recomiendo que salgan.



(I advise you to leave.)

Remember, when the subject does not change and remains the same in both clauses, then the infinitive is used.

Deseo trabajar.




(I want to work).

2.
EMOTION
The Subjunctive is always used in the dependent clause when the verb in the main clause expresses emotion, such as pleasure, joy, pity, hope, fear, surprise, anger, regret, or sorrow.

Some verbs of emotion are:  

gustar 


encantar 

alegrarse (de)
 (to be glad)


esperar (to hope)
temer (to fear)

sentir (to feel, to regret)


sorprenderse

molestar

Ejemplos:

Espero que vayamos a Chile.



(I hope we go to Chile)

Ellas temen que no lleguemos a tiempo. 
(They are afraid we won’t arrive on time.)

Siento mucho que estén enfermos.

(I’m sorry that they are sick.)

Nos alegramos de que estés bien.

(We’re glad you’re doing well.)

Again, note that the subjects must be different.  Otherwise the infinitive is used.

Temo no poder ir.



(I am afraid I can’t go.)

3.
DOUBT, DISBELIEF, DENIAL
3A. DOUBT: Whenever doubt, uncertainty or disbelief is expressed in the main clause, the subordinate clause will be in the subjunctive.

Dudamos que él tenga dinero 


(We doubt he has money)

Dudo que podamos ir.



(I doubt we can go.)

No estoy seguro de que ella me quiera. 
(I’m not sure she loves me.)

Note that in the affirmative, DUDAR takes the subjunctive even when there is no change of subject.

Dudo que pueda ir contigo hoy.

(I doubt that I can go with you today.)

When there is no doubt expressed by the speaker, the indicative is used:

No dudo que él tiene dinero.


(We don’t doubt he has money.)

No Dudo que podemos ir.


(I don’t doubt we can go.)

Estoy seguro de que ella me quiere mucho.
(I’m sure she loves me a lot.)

3B. DISBELIEF: Creer (to believe, to think) is followed by the subjunctive in negative sentences expressing disbelief.

No creen que vengamos.


(They don’t believe we will come.)

No creo que tenga razón.
(I don’t believe that you’re right.)  (I believe you’re wrong.)

Even in the interrogative, if doubt is strongly implied, use the subjunctive:

¿Crees que él haga sus tareas solo?

(Do you think he does his homework alone?)

No, no creo que las haga solo.


(No, I don’t think he does them alone.)

However, if creer is used in affirmative sentences expressing belief, the indicative is used:

Creo que él hace sus tareas



(I believe he does his homework.)

Creo que están aquí.




(I believe they are here.)

3C.  DENIAL:
When the main clause denies what is said in the subordinate clause, use the subjunctive:

No es verdad que hablemos ruso.


(It’s not true that we speak Russian.)

However, when the main clause confirms rather than denies what is said in the subordinate clause, use the indicative.

Es verdad que hablamos ruso.



(It’s true that we speak Russian.)

4.     UNREALITY


The subjunctive is always used when the subordinate clause refers to someone or something that is indefinite, unspecified, or non-existent.

Buscamos un apartamento que tenga una cocina grande. 

(We’re looking for an apartment with a big kitchen.)

No conozco a nadie que pueda ayudarnos.



 (I don’t know anyone who can help us.)


¿Hay alguien que vaya a Nueva York esta noche?



(Is there anyone who goes to New York tonight?) 

However, if the subordinate clause refers to existent, definite, or specific persons or things, use the indicative:

Tenemos un apartamento que tiene una cocina grande.


(We have an apartment with a big kitchen.)

Conozco a alguien que puede ayudarnos. 




(I know someone who can help us).

Hay alguien que va a Nueva York esta noche.




(There is someone going to New York tonight).

5.  IMPERSONAL EXPRESSIONS


There are many impersonal expressions that convey emotion, uncertainty, unreality, or an indirect or implied command, or opinion; these also take the subjunctive but only when the verb of the subordinate clause has an expressed subject. 

Note:

1. All of these expressions are followed by “que”, except “quizás”; “ojalá” shows an optional use of “que”. 

2. “Ojalá” and “quizás” are always followed by the subjunctive mood.


es bueno que


it is good



es difícil que


it is unlikely


es recomendable que

it is advisable / recommended


es importante que

it is important



es posible que


it is pos
sible


es imposible que

it is impossible


es una lástima que

it is a pity



es mejor que


it is better


es necesario que

it is necessary


puede ser que


it may be


quizás



perhaps



ojalá (que)


if only...!  (or) I hope...!   (or) I wish...!

Ejemplos:

¡Ojalá que no tengamos tareas hoy!

I hope we don’t have homework today!

Es difícil que pueda ir.



It’s unlikely that I/he can go.

Es necesario que estudiemos.


It’s necessary that we study.

Puede ser que ella no llame.


It may be that she doesn’t call.

When an impersonal expression implies certainty, use the indicative:


Es seguro que van a venir.


It’s certain that they are going to come
.

Es cierto que tienen un bebé. 


It’s true that they have a baby.

When these expressions are not followed by “que”, an infinitive verb follows the expression:

Es importante estudiar.
Es necesario trabajar.
Es posible viajar a Europa en barco.

FORMACIÓN DEL SUBJUNTIVO (PRESENTE)
For most verbs, the present subjunctive is formed by removing the o of the yo form of the present indicative tense and adding the following endings.

VERBOS REGULARES

  
Verbos en –ar


(ar (e)







hablar

(
hablo

(

hable

hablemos









hables

habléis









hable

hablen


Verbos en –er


(er ( a)

comer

(
como

(

coma

comamos








comas

comáis










coma

coman



  
Verbos en –ir


(ir ( a)






escribir
(
escribo


(

escriba

escribamos








escribas
escribáis








escriba

escriban

Verbos con cambios ortográficos

Listed are some common verbs that undergo certain spelling changes when conjugated in the present indicative and subjunctive.  They are listed below with their yo form and the forms of the present subjunctive.

Verbs with g in the stem

tener
tengo

tenga 

tengas 

tenga

tengamos
tengan

traer
traigo

traiga

traigas

traiga

traigamos 
traigan

salir
salgo

salga

salgas

salga

salgamos
salgan

venir
vengo

venga

vengas

venga

vengamos
vengan

decir
digo

diga

digas

diga

digamos
digan

hacer
hago

haga

hagas

haga

hagamos
hagan

oír
oigo

oiga

oigas

oiga

oigamos
oigan

poner
pongo

ponga

pongas

ponga

pongamos
pongan


Verbs that change e to ie

pensar
pienso

piense

pienses

piense

pensemos
piensen

perder
pierdo

pierda

pierda
s
pierda

perdamos
pierdan

querer
quiero

quiera

quieras

quiera

queramos
quieran

The e changes to ie in all forms except nosotros


Verbs that change o to ue

poder
puedo

pueda

puedas

pueda

podamos
puedan

volver
vuelvo

vuelva

vuelvas

vuelva

volvamos
vuelvan

The o changes to ue in all forms except nosotros.

dormir
duermo
duerma

duermas
duerma

durmamos
duerman

The o of dormir changes to ue in all forms except in the nosotros form, where the o changes to u.


Verbs that change e to i

pedir
pido

pida

pidas

pida

pidamos
pidan

repetir
repito

repita

repitas

repita

repitamos
repitan

seguir
sigo

siga

sigas

siga

sigamos
sigan

servir
sirvo

sirva

sirvas

sirva

sirvamos
sirvan

The e changes to i for these verbs in all forms, even nosotros.


The subjunctive of verbs with spelling changes

Verbs that change z to c

comenzar
(
comienzo
(
comience, comiences, comience, comencemos

empezar
(
empiezo
(
empiece, empieces, empiece, 







empecemos, empiecen

cruzar

(
cruzo

(
cruce, cruces, cruce, crucemos, crucen

Verbs that change c to qu

buscar

(
busco

(
busque, busques, busque, busquemos, busquen

practicar
(
practico
(
practique, practiques, practique, practiquemos, practiquen

tocar

(
toco

(
toque, toques, toque, toquemos, toquen

Verbs that change g to gu

jugar

(
juego

(
juegue, juegues, juegue, juguemos, jueguen

pagar

(
pago

(
pague, pagues, pague, paguemos, paguen

llegar

(
llego

(
llegue, llegues, llegue, lleguemos, lleguen


Otros verbos irregulares

The following six verbs form the subjunctive in a way that is not based on the yo form of the present tense:

Verbos irregulares

dar

dé

des

dé

demos

den

estar

esté

estés

esté

estemos
estén

haber

haya

hayas

haya

hayamos
hayan

ir

vaya

vayas

vaya

vayamos
vayan

saber

sepa

sepas

sepa

sepamos
sepan

ser

sea

seas

sea

seamos

sean
Verbos reflexivos en el subjuntivo

Reflexive verbs form the subjunctive in the same way as non- reflexive verbs.  The reflexive pronoun is in the same position in the subjunctive mood as in its other uses.  Note the following examples:

La mamá quiere que los niños se laven los dientes.

Es necesario que yo me levante temprano.

FORMACIÓN DEL SUBJUNTIVO (IMPERFECTO, O “PAST”)

For most verbs, the present subjunctive is formed by selecting the preterite “ellos” form, removing the on and then adding the following endings.

VERBOS REGULARES (all of them!)

  
Verbos en –ar


(ar (e)








hablar

(
hablaron
(

hablara

habláramos









hablaras










hablara

hablaran


Verbos en –er


(er ( a)

comer

(
comieron
(

comiera
comiéramos








comieras










comiera
comieran



  
Verbos en –ir


(ir ( a)






escribir

(
escribieron
(

escribiera
escribiéramos








escribas










escribiera
escribieran

There are NO irregulars for forming the imperfect subjunctive. The only thing is remembering the preterite irregulars/spelling/stem changes. The endings are ALWAYS the same (
Irregulares del pretérito
Listed are some common verbs that undergo certain spelling changes when conjugated in the preterite “ellos” form. Then, find the “yo/el” of imperfect subjunctive.
tener
tuvieron
tuviera 

caber

cupieron
cupiera
traer
trajeron
trajera

querer

quisieron
quisiera
venir
vinieron
viniera

ser

fueron

fuera
decir
dijeron

dijera

ir

fueron

fuera
hacer
hicieron
hiciera

dar

dieron

diera
poner
pusieron
pusiera

estar

estuvieron
estuviera


poder   pudieron
pudiera

andar

anduvieron
anduviera

ver
vieron

viera


Verbs with stem changes

pedir

pidieron
pidiera

servir

sirvieron
sirviera

vestirse
se vistieron
se vistiera
seguir

siguieron
siguiera
dormir

durmieron
durmiera
morir

murieron
muriera
Verbs with spelling changes
oír
oyeron

oyera

leer

leyeron

leyera

caer
cayeron
cayera

huir

huyeron
huyera

Verbos reflexivos en el subjuntivo

Reflexive verbs form the subjunctive in the same way as non- reflexive verbs.  The reflexive pronoun is in the same position in the subjunctive mood as in its other uses.  Note the following examples:

La mamá quería que los niños se lavaran los dientes.

Era necesario que yo me levantara temprano.

